I. IDENTITY OF THE PETITIONER 

Petitioner Total Outdoor Corporation ("Total Outdoor"), an 

outdoor advertising company, brings this Petition for Review. 

II. THE DECISION BELOW 

Total Outdoor petitions for review of the decision of the Court of 

Appeals, which was ordered published on May 7, 2015. A copy ofthe 

decision and the order granting motions to publish are attached to the 

Appendix. 

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. Title 23 of the Seattle Municipal Code vests the Municipal Court 
with "exclusive[]" jurisdiction to review code enforcement actions. 
SMC 23.90.018(C). 

The first issue presented is whether the Court of Appeals exceeded 
its jurisdiction when it decided Total Outdoor's repair work on the 
Sign violated the Seattle Municipal Code, even though the 
Municipal Court, which has exclusive jurisdiction over this 
question, had yet to render a decision because the code 
enforcement action was (and still is) stayed. 

2. The Seattle Municipal Code defines "use, nonconforming" to 
include both "a use of land or a structure that was lawful when 
established and that does not now conform to the use regulations of 
the zone in which it is located." SMC 23.84A.040 "U" (emphasis 
added). It is well-established in Washington that the common law 
doctrine of abandonment applies to a property owner's vested right 
in a nonconforming use. 

The second issue presented is whether the common law doctrine of 
abandonment applies to a property owner's vested rights in all 
types of nonconforming uses, including nonconforming structures. 
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IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. Factual Background 

Since 1926, an illuminated rooftop sign (the "Sign") has sat atop 

the Centennial Building, on the comer of 4th Avenue and Stewart, in 

downtown Seattle. R 00003. 1 On October 24, 1975, a new City ordinance 

took effect, prohibiting advertising signs on rooftops in the downtown 

zone in which the Sign is located. R 00125. Thereafter, the Sign became 

a legal nonconforming use. The old copy was later changed to an 

illuminated advertisement for Alaska Airlines, R 00562, and the Sign 

structure's height was reduced "to make it conform[] to exist[ing] code." 

R 00012; see also R 00097 (ordinance SMC 102929(15)(b), limiting sign 

height to 30 feet above the nearest parapet). The advertising copy on the 

Sign changed again in 1981, this time to display a neon illuminated 

advertisement for Cameras West. The City issued a permit for additional 

electrical circuits necessary for the new copy, R 00024-25 ("1981 lighting 

permit"), which stated that the new copy would be "[m]ounted on [the] 

existing structure above [the] existing message center," R 00024 

(emphasis added). Installing the Cameras West copy did not alter the 

Sign's structure, which remained the same size. R 000751. 

1 Citations to the record are indicated by "R" followed by the page number, using the 
page numbers of the documentary record as transmitted to the Superior Court and Court 
of Appeals. 
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Cameras West ceased using the Sign in November 2011, and Total 

Outdoor installed new copy? After replacing the copy, Total Outdoor 

noticed that the Sign needed significant repairs. After nearly 90 years of 

exposure, the structure above the base had corroded badly, and needed to 

be replaced to ensure the Sign's safety and stability. R 00602. The Sign's 

base did not need to be repaired. !d. The repairs consisted of "piece for 

piece" repairs of the upper lattice frame, and thus the size and height of 

the structure did not change. SeeR 00602-05 (schematics for the repair 

work). After the repairs were completed, Total Outdoor placed new copy 

on the Sign advertising an Apple product. R 00607; 00765. 

More than a month after Total Outdoor's request for a sign 

registration number, the City issued a stop-work order asserting that Total 

Outdoor was required to obtain a permit for the repair work on the Sign. 

R 00284. The stop-work order was based on the City's belief that "[t]he 

new sign structure appeared to be larger, wider, and taller than the original 

sign structure and sign face." R 00313. Based on observations from street-

level, and without taking any measurements, the City determined that the 

"existing roof sign structure has been completely demolished and a new 

2 On December 6, 2011 Total Outdoor formally requested that the City's Department of 
Planning and Development ("DPD") issue a sign registration number for the Sign, in a 
letter with back-up for Total Outdoor's position, R 00211-69, as required by SMC 
23.55.014. The City did not respond until February 2012, when it denied the request. Z 
R 00300-03. 
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sign structure erected," id., even though the repairs did not affect the base. 

Total Outdoor appealed this decision to Municipal Court, which has yet to 

rule because that appeal has been stayed. 3 

On October 26, 2012, the City issued its "Proposed Decisions" 

regarding the Sign. First, it conceded that the Sign was a valid 

nonconforming, off-premises advertising sign, and that the right to off-

premises use had not been abandoned. R 00656. But even though it 

conceded that there was no intent to abandon the right to off-premises use, 

the City continued to insist that the 1981 lighting permit did establish an 

intent to abandon certain vested rights associated with size. The City 

reasoned that a hand-drawn sketch on the 1981 lighting permit depicting 

the proposed Cameras West copy "establish[ ed] the current approved 

dimensions of both the sign support structure and the sign face size," R 

00658. In other words, the City concluded that the Apple copy 

represented an invalid expansion of a nonconforming structure because it 

was larger than the Cameras West copy (even though the Apple copy was 

much smaller than the copy on the Sign when the nonconformity vested in 

1975). R 00657-59. In its final decision on the Sign, issued in December 

3 The City also denied Total Outdoor's December 2011 request for a registration number, 
claiming that the 1981 lighting permit, which allowed the installation of additional 
electrical circuits to illuminate the Cameras West copy, had functioned to permanently 
change the Sign's use from an off-premises sign to an on-premises sign. R 00300-03. 
The City later reversed course and conceded that the right to continue off-premises 
advertising had not been abandoned. R 00656. 
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2012, the City asserted that "the size of the structure and sign face that 

exist[ ed] in 197 5 was abandoned when the sign structure and sign face 

became smaller in 1981." R 00795.4 

B. Procedural History 

Total Outdoor appealed the City's land use decisions to the 

Superior Court, under LUPA. CP 1. The appeals were consolidated under 

Cause No. 12-2-06852-6. CP 44. The Superior Court affirmed, CP 1012, 

and Total Outdoor timely appealed to the Court of Appeals, CP 1015. 

Rather than address whether the City met its burden to show that 

the property owner had abandoned the vested rights associated with the 

Sign-i.e., intent and an overt act in furtherance of that intent, see 

Rosema v. Seattle, 166 Wn. App. 293, 299, 269 P.3d 395 (2012}-the 

Court of Appeals reached the surprising conclusion that the doctrine of 

abandonment did not even apply.5 Instead of applying the abandonment 

test, the Court of Appeals repeatedly asserted that Total Outdoor had 

violated Seattle's Municipal Code when it conducted the Sign repairs, and 

that Total Outdoor violated the City's stop-work order-even though 

4 The City conceded that it "may or may not be true" that the Sign structure was the same 
size as it was prior to the repairs, but then went on to state that "the sign frame and sign 
face area ... are clearly different and larger than the sign frame and sign face allowed by 
[the 1981 lighting permit]." R 00790-91 (emphasis added). 
5 The Court of Appeals also concluded that DPD's finding that Total Outdoor had 
increased the size of the nonconformity was supported by sufficient evidence (the hand
drawn sketch on the 1981 permit), but reversed DPD's determination regarding the 
maximum wattage permitted for the Sign. See Slip Op. at 1, 8-9, 19. 
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neither party to the appeal had relied on the stop work order because the 

litigation addressing that issue was pending (but stayed) before the 

Municipal Court. See, e.g., Slip Op. at 13-14. Nevertheless, the Court of 

Appeals adjudicated the stayed Municipal Court action on its own. !d. 

("[l]t is undisputed that Total Outdoor demolished the existing structures 

and erected new sign structures without obtaining required permits and 

continued its work in violation of a posted no-work order."). The Court of 

Appeals reasoned that "these building code violations are [not] excused by 

any common law doctrine." !d. After adjudicating an action not before it, 

the Court of Appeals concluded, almost in passing, that "nonconforming 

structures and nonconforming uses are analytically separate," and thus the 

abandonment test does not apply to a nonconforming structure. The Court 

of Appeals provided no analysis for this conclusion--even though it was 

the central issue presented. !d. at 14-15. 

V. REASONS FOR GRANTING REVIEW 

A. The Court of Appeals Lacked Jurisdiction to Enforce the 
Seattle Municipal Code 

The Court of Appeals based its opinion on Total Outdoor's alleged 

failure to get required permits for the sign repairs and an alleged violation 

of a stop-work order. In its view, "the core issue" was "whether the owner 

of legal nonconforming structures who, without required permits, 

demolishes those structures and then erects new structures in violation of a 
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stop-work order may rebuild or 'repair' to dimensions larger than allowed 

in the most recent permit issued by the City." Slip Op. at 1 (emphasis 

added). But far from being the "core issue," whether Total Outdoor's 

repair work on the sign complied with Seattle's Municipal Code was not 

even a peripheral issue. Neither party presented the issue of whether 

Total Outdoor had the required permits or whether Total Outdoor's repairs 

violated a stop-work-order because the Court of Appeals lacked 

jurisdiction to weigh in on those disputes, which were currently stayed 

before the Municipal Court (pending the appeal). By repeatedly focusing 

on the alleged violation, the Court exceeded its jurisdiction. Correcting 

this significant jurisdictional error is a matter of "substantial public 

interest" warranting review by this Court. RAP 13.4(b)(4).6 

L UP A "establish[ ed] uniform, expedited appeal procedures" "for 

judicial review ofland use decisions made by local jurisdictions." RCW 

36.70C.010; see also RCW 36.70C.030 (LUPA provides "exclusive means 

of judicial review of land use decisions"). LUP A allows property owners 

and those aggrieved by a land use decision to petition for review of that 

decision in the superior court. RCW 36.70C.040; RCW 36.70C.060. But 

it withholds from superior court jurisdiction one important class of cases: 

actions to enforce local ordinances that are "required by law" to be 

6 Neither the Court of Appeals in its opinion, nor the City in its briefing, ever identified 
what "required" permits Total Outdoor supposedly failed to acquire. 
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brought "in a court of limited jurisdiction" may not be appealed to 

superior court under LUP A. RCW 36. 70C.020(2)( c). 

Enforcement actions under Seattle's Land Use Code fall into this 

class of cases over which the superior court lacks jurisdiction. The Land 

Use Code is in Title 23 ofthe Seattle Municipal Code ("SMC"), 

chapter 23.90 of which governs enforcement actions. See generally SMC 

23.02.010, et seq.; SMC 23.90.002, et seq. Under chapter 23.90, the 

Director ofDPD has the authority to issue stop-work orders on 

construction projects that appear to run afoul of the Land Use Code. SMC 

23.90.004 (granting the Director "the duty ... to enforce" the Land Use 

Code); 23.90.010 (granting the Director authority to issue stop-work 

orders). "Civil actions to enforce Title 23"-such as stop-work 

orders-"shall be brought exclusively in Seattle Municipal Court except as 

otherwise required by law or court rule." SMC 23.90.018(C) (emphasis 

added). The Municipal Court is a"[ c ]ourt[] of limited jurisdiction," as 

that term is used in LUPA. See Post v. City ofTacoma, 167 Wn.2d 300, 

311, 217 P .3d 1179, 1185 (2009) ("Infraction jurisdiction resides 

exclusively in the district and municipal courts, i.e. courts of limited 

jurisdiction."); see also RCW 3.02.010; RCW 35.20.010. Thus, any 

enforcement action brought under Title 23 can be heard only in Municipal 

Court. Post, 167 Wn.2d at 310 ("LUP A does not authorize petitions on 
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the subject of ordinances that must be enforced 'in a court of limited 

jurisdiction.'"). 

It is true that DPD issued a stop-work order asserting that Total 

Outdoor was required to obtain a permit for its repair work on the Sign.7 

It is also true that Total Outdoor appealed this decision to Municipal 

Court, and that the appeal has been stayed. 8 In any enforcement action 

brought under Title 23, "the City has the burden of proving by a 

preponderance of the evidence that a violation exists or existed." SMC 

23.90.010(C). But contrary to the Court of Appeals' reasoning, the mere 

"issuance of the notice of violation or of an order following a review by 

the Director is not itself evidence that a violation exists." !d. (emphasis 

added). Thus, whether Total Outdoor violated the Land Use Code remains 

a disputed issue in ongoing litigation before the only court with 

jurisdiction to hear it: the Seattle Municipal Court. 

And yet, the Court of Appeals' opinion is based on its 

determination that Total Outdoor violated the Land Use Code by repairing 

the Sign in violation of the stop-work order. Slip Op. at 1. This violation 

was the "core issue" for the Court of Appeals. !d. Repeatedly, the Court 

7 See Total Outdoor Corp. v. City of Seattle, Dep 't of Planning and Dev 't, No. 12-028 
(King Cnty. Mun. Ct. filed Feb. 24, 2012) (complaint) (attached in the Appendix to this 
Petition). 
8 See Total Outdoor Corp. v. City of Seattle, Dep 't of Planning and Dev 't, No. 12-028 
(King Cnty. Mun. Ct. Aug. 14, 2012) (order staying proceedings) (attached in the 
Appendix to this Petition). 
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of Appeals treated Total Outdoor's alleged violation as a settled issue 

rather than the subject of ongoing litigation. See, e.g., id. at 1 ("the owner 

demolished and erected new structures without seeking the required 

permits") (emphasis added). The Court of Appeals' incorrect 

understanding even permeated its factual discussion of the case. 9 

Worse, this factual error affected the Court of Appeals' legal 

analysis, causing it to stray outside its jurisdiction. The Court of Appeals 

even asserted that the "appeal turn[ed] on [Total Outdoor's] changes to the 

nonconforming rooftop sign frame and sign structures made without 

required permits." !d. at 10 (emphasis added). It then applied its decision 

to pre-adjudicate the Municipal Court action to the actual issue presented 

in the appeal and concluded that because Total Outdoor "demolished the 

structures without a permit, the owner here had no right to rebuild the sign 

frame or sign face to pre-1981 dimensions." !d. at 12 (emphasis added). 

The Court of Appeals even used its pre-adjudication of the Municipal 

Court action to find that the doctrine of abandonment does not apply to 

nonconforming structures. !d. at 13-14 ("[l]t is undisputed that Total 

9 See, e.g, Slip Op. at 5 ("Without obtaining a permit, Total Outdoor then violated the 
stop-work order .... ")(emphasis added); id. at 6 ("[B]ecause the sign frame and sign 
face were removed and reconstructed without first obtaining the necessary DPD permits, 
the actual dimensions of the rooftop sign structure are not known with certainty.") 
(emphasis added); id. at 8 ("But the Department expressly noted the actual dimensions of 
the sign frame that was dismantled are not known with certainty because Total Outdoor 
dismantled the existing sign frame without obtaining a permit.") (emphasis added). 
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Outdoor demolished the existing structures and erected new sign 

structures without obtaining required permits and continued its work in 

violation of a posted stop-work order. Total Outdoor cites no authority 

that these building code violations are excused by any common law 

doctrine [of abandonment and/or vested rights].") (emphasis added). 

But whether Total Outdoor had the right permits or violated a stop-

work-order is a disputed issue pending before the Municipal Court. 10 The 

Court of Appeals lacked jurisdiction to resolve this dispute sua sponte. 

This significant jurisdictional defect laid the foundation for later legal 

errors that, as discussed below, drew the Court of Appeals into a conflict 

with one of its own prior decisions, as well as a decision of this Court, on 

a matter of substantial public interest. This Court should grant the Petition 

for Review in order to correct this fundamental, jurisdictional defect. 

B. The Common Law Doctrine of Abandonment Applies to All 
Nonconforming Uses, Including Nonconforming Structures 

Besides the significant jurisdictional error that the Court of 

Appeals committed, its decision on the merits also warrants review 

because it abrogated a deeply rooted common law principle in the absence 

of a legislative directive to do so and diverged from both its own and this 

Court's precedents. See RAP 13.4(b)(l), (2). The Petition presents an 

10 Total Outdoor's position is that no permit was required because the Seattle Building 
Code ("SBC") allows maintenance and repair to take place without a permit. See SBC § 
3107 .4.2.4. 
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important question of land use law in Washington that will impact how 

local jurisdictions evaluate property owners' vested rights in the continued 

existence oflawful nonconformities. !d. 13.4(b)(4); see City of Seattle's 

Motion to Publish, at 2 (filed April 6, 20 15) ("Local jurisdictions process 

many permits involving nonconforming structures and it is important for 

municipalities and the public to understand what test applies."). 

1. The Court of Appeals' conclusion finds no support in 
the text of the Seattle Municipal Code. 

This Court's "[i]nterpretation oflocal ordinances is governed by 

the same rules of construction as state statutes." HJS Dev 't, Inc. v. Pierce 

Cnty. ex ref. Dep 't of Planning and Land Servs., 148 Wn.2d 451, 4 71, 61 

P.3d 1141, 1151 (2003) (citation omitted). "It is a well-established 

principle of statutory construction that [t]he common law ... ought not to 

be deemed repealed, unless the language of a statute be clear and explicit 

for this purpose." Potter v. Wash. State Patrol, 165 Wn.2d 67, 77, 196 

P.3d 691, 695-96 (2008) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted; 

second alteration in original). In the absence of language expressly stating 

such intent, this Court will interpret a law to "abrogate[] the common law 

[only] when the provisions of a ... statute are so inconsistent with ... the 

prior common law that both cannot simultaneously be in force." !d. at 77 

(internal quotation marks and citation omitted; alteration in original). 
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A legal nonconforming use is a use of property that was lawful 

before the enactment of a zoning ordinance and is permitted to continue 

although it is no longer compliant. Rhod-a-Zalea & 35th, Inc. v. 

Snohomish Cnty., 136 Wn.2d 1, 6, 959 P.2d 1024 (1988). It is thus a 

product of zoning regulations, which may refer to different types of 

nonconformities-e.g., nonconforming uses, lots, or structures. 

McQuillin, supra,§ 25:182. Even the Seattle Municipal Code references 

several types ofnonconformities. See SMC 23.42.128 ("Parking 

nonconformity"); id. 23.42.130 ("Nonconforming solar collectors"). Once 

a legal nonconformity is established, the right to continue it is "a vested 

property right protected by the federal and state constitutions." 2 Patricia 

E. Salkin, AM. LAW OF ZONING§ 12:11 (5th ed.). That right may be lost 

under the common law doctrine of abandonment, "but a party so claiming 

has a heavy burden of proof." Rosema v. City of Seattle, 166 Wn. App. 

293, 299, 269 P.3d 393 (2012). All parties and the Court of Appeals agree 

that the vested nonconforming use of off-premises advertising relating to 

the Sign has not been abandoned. 

The abandonment doctrine is well-established in Washington's 

common law. See, e.g., VanSant v. City of Everett, 69 Wn. App. 641, 

648, 849 P.2d 1276, 1280 (1993). Nothing in the text ofthe SMC 

indicates an intent to treat use- and structure-based nonconformities 
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differently for purposes of this well-recognized common law rule. Indeed, 

far from exhibiting a clear intent to abrogate the common law 

abandonment doctrine as to nonconforming structures but not 

nonconforming uses (the conclusion that the Court of Appeals implicitly 

reached), the SMC repeatedly commingles the two. The SMC expressly 

defines "use, nonconforming" to include both "a use of land or a structure 

that was lawful when established and that does not now conform to the use 

regulations ofthe zone in which it is located." SMC 23.84A.040 "U" 

(emphasis added). Likewise, the code defines "Nonconforming to 

development standards" as "a structure ... that met applicable 

development standards at the time it was built or established, but that does 

not now conform to one or more of the applicable development standards. 

Development standards include ... height ... lighting, maximum size of 

nonresidential uses [and] street-level use requirements." SMC 

23.84A.026 "N" (emphasis added). This overlap between structure and 

use continues in how the SMC defines "sign." See SMC 23.84A.036 "S" 

('"Sign' means any medium, including structural and component parts, 

that is used or intended to be used to attract attention to the subject matter 

for advertising, identification or informative purposes") (emphasis added). 

Even the provision the City is trying to enforce, SMC 23.42.1 06(D), 

acknowledges the overlap between nonconforming uses and structures. 
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!d. ("A structure occupied by a nonconforming nonresidential use may be 

maintained, repaired, renovated or structurally altered but shall not be 

expanded or extended.") (emphasis added). 

None of these provisions express a "clear and explicit" statement 

of intent to abrogate a deeply rooted common law principle. See Potter, 

165 Wn.2d at 77. Nor do they imply that abandonment should apply 

differently to nonconforming structures because many discuss the two in 

the same breath. The Court of Appeals thus erred when it held that the 

abandonment doctrine does not apply to nonconforming structures. 

Correcting this error, which the City acknowledged in its Motion to 

Publish will now affect scores of land use decisions across the state, is 

reason enough to grant this Petition for Review. 

2. This Court should grant the Petition for Review to 
resolve the conflicts created by the Court of Appeals' 
decision. 

The Court of Appeals' conclusion that the doctrine of 

abandonment does not apply to nonconforming structures is inconsistent 

both with a decision of this Court and with a prior decision of the Court of 

Appeals. See RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2). The Court should grant the Petition to 

resolve this conflict. See id. 13 .4(b )( 4 ). 

In Rhod-a-Zalea, this Court made clear that "local governments are 

free to preserve, limit or terminate nonconforming uses subject only to the 
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broad limits of applicable enabling acts and the constitution." 136 Wn.2d 

at 7. The right to continue a lawful nonconformity in the face of a 

prohibitory zoning ordinance is a vested right, and "nonconforming uses 

are allowed to continue based on the belief that it would be unfair and 

perhaps unconstitutional to require an immediate cessation of a 

nonconforming use." !d. at 6. Whether tied to a use or a structure, vested 

nonconformities are property rights that cannot be taken away without 

implicating constitutional interests in property. See id. at 7; State ex ref

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