RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
Jul 02, 2015, 12:43 pm
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK

No. 91863-5 E CRI

IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

(Court of Appeals No. 70957-7-I)

TOTAL OUTDOOR CORPORATION, a Washington corporation,

Petitioner,

vs.

CITY OF SEATTLE DEPARTMENT OF PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT, a municipal corporation,

Respondent.

CITY OF SEATTLE'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

PETER S. HOLMES Seattle City Attorney

Elizabeth E. Anderson, WSBA #34036 Assistant City Attorney Attorneys for Respondent City of Seattle

Seattle City Attorney's Office 701 – 5th Avenue, Suite 2050 Seattle, Washington 98104-7097 (206) 684-8200

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

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

The Court will grant review only if one or more of the factors in RAP 13.4(b) are present. Total spends much of its petition for review rearguing the facts of the case; Total fails to demonstrate how this case meets a RAP 13.4(b) factor. This Court should deny review because the Court of Appeals decision is consistent with existing Washington case law and involves no issue of substantial public interest requiring determination by this Court.

A. The Court of Appeals decision fills a gap in Washington case law and does not conflict with existing case law.

The Court of Appeals decision filled a gap between case law about nonconforming uses and nonconforming structures. It engendered no conflict in Washington law. *Cf.* RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(2).

¹ The Court of Appeals decision is located at pp. A-7 – A-25 of Total's Appendix to Petition for Review ("Appendix to Petition"). If review is granted, the City will supplement its statement of facts.

A nonconforming use is a use that was lawful when it was established, but that fails to comply with the restrictions imposed by later-enacted law.² For example, if a property owner obtained a permit to operate an automotive repair business in a residential zone and the City Council later amended the law to prohibit automotive repair businesses in residential zones, the <u>use</u> of that property for that type of business becomes non-conforming. Under the City's current Land Use Code, nonconforming uses may be continued unless abandoned.³

By contrast, a nonconforming structure⁴ is a structure that was lawful when it was constructed, but is no longer consistent with later-enacted development standards. For example, the automotive repair

² Andrew v. King County, 21 Wn. App. 566, 569-572, 586 P.2d 509 (1978). Consistent with the common law, SMC 23.84A.040 defines a "nonconforming use" as "a use of land or a structure that was lawful when established and that does not now conform to the use regulations of the zone in which it is located, or that has otherwise been established as nonconforming according to section 23.42.102."

³ SMC 23.42.104.

⁴ For ease of reference, the City will refer to structures that are nonconforming to development standards as "nonconforming structures." SMC 23.84A.026 defines "Nonconforming to development standards" as:

[[]A] structure, site or development that met applicable development standards at the time it was built or established, but that does not now conform to one or more of the applicable development standards. Development standards include, but are not limited to height, setbacks, lot coverage, lot area, number and location of parking spaces, open space, density, screening and landscaping, lighting, maximum size of nonresidential uses, maximum size of non-industrial use, view corridors, sidewalk width, amenity features, street-level use requirements, street facade requirements, and floor area ratios.

SMC 23.42.112, entitled "Nonconformity to development standards," regulates structures that are nonconforming to development standards.

business might operate in a building covering most of the lot, which was allowed under a standard in effect when the building was constructed. But if current standards would require structures to be set back further from the street and neighbors, the building would become a nonconforming structure. Under the City's current Land Use Code, nonconforming structures may be "maintained, renovated, repaired, or structurally altered" but not "expanded or extended" in ways that increase the extent of nonconformity or create additional nonconformity.⁵

Washington case law on nonconforming *use* holds that a property owner may no longer maintain that use if the owner abandons or discontinues the use, which requires proof of: (1) an intent to abandon;

A structure nonconforming to development standards may be maintained, renovated, repaired or structurally altered but may not be expanded or extended in any manner that increases the extent of nonconformity or creates additional nonconformity [except in limited circumstances not present here.]

To curb the expansion of nonconforming uses, this same standard applies to structures containing a nonconforming use:

A nonconforming nonresidential use shall not be expanded or extended, except as follows: A structure occupied by a nonconforming nonresidential use may be maintained, repaired, renovated or structurally altered but shall not be expanded or extended except as otherwise required by law, as necessary to improve access for the elderly or disabled or as specifically permitted elsewhere in this Code.

SMC 23.42.106.D.1.

⁵ SMC 23.42.112.A provides:

and (2) an overt act or failure to act that implies that the owner ceased to claim or retain any interest in the right to the nonconforming use.⁶

But that test is irrelevant here, where the only lasting debate is over the size of the structure, not the right to use the structure.

No Washington case has addressed a common law test to terminate a nonconforming structure—none explored the critical distinction between nonconforming uses and structures and the appropriate test regarding relinquishment of nonconforming structures. The Court of Appeals citation to numerous treatises and case law from other states reflects the absence of relevant case law on this distinction and relevant test.⁷

The Court of Appeals decision does not conflict with any Washington case law. Contrary to Total's argument, no Washington case applies the common law test for termination of nonconforming uses to nonconforming structures.⁸ Both of the cases cited by Total involve termination of a nonconforming use.

⁶ Rosema v. City of Seattle, 166 Wn. App. 293, 269 P.3d 393 (2011). See also, Van Sant v. City of Everett, 69 Wn. App. 641, 849 P.2d 1276 (1993), and City of University Place v. McGuire, 144 Wn.2d 640, 30 P.3d 453 (2001), both of which involved abandonment of a nonconforming use.

⁷ See, pp. A-16, A-17 and A-20 of Total's Appendix to Petition.

⁸ Washington courts have upheld the City's regulation prohibiting the expansion of a nonconforming structure. *See, State ex. rel. Miller v. Cain,* 40 Wn.2d 216, 222, 242 P.2d 505 (1952), the Washington Supreme Court held that a Seattle ordinance prohibiting the enlargement of nonconforming structures was within the police power and upheld it as constitutional. This 1952 decision has not been overruled.

In *Rosema*, the Court affirmed DPD's interpretation that the owners of a legally nonconforming duplex use did not abandon the nonconforming use under the common law two-prong test for discontinuing a nonconforming use. **Rosema* did not, as alleged by Total, "expressly appl[y] the abandonment test to a structural nonconformity." **Rather, *Rosema* concluded that because the owners did not modify the structure consistent with their intent to terminate the nonconforming use, the owners did not meet both prongs of the two-prong common law test. The present case does not involve termination of a nonconforming use so **Rosema* does not conflict with the Court of Appeals decision.

Total also alleges the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with *Rhod-A-Zalea*¹¹ because "the right to continue a lawful nonconformity is a vested right" and argues *Rhod-A-Zalea* held that "vested nonconformities are property rights which cannot be taken away without implicating constitutional interest in property." *Rhod-A-Zalea* involved the law of nonconforming uses, ¹³ not nonconforming structures. Moreover, the

⁹ Rosema v. City of Seattle, 166 Wn. App. 293, 299-300, 269 P.3d 393 (2011) which provides that to prove abandonment or discontinuance, the party must show: (1) an intent to abandon; and (2) an overt act or failure to act that implies that the owner ceased to claim or retain any interest in the right to the nonconforming use test.

¹⁰ Total's Petition at p. 17.

 $^{^{11}}$ Rhod-A-Zalea & 35th, Inc. v. Snohomish County, 136 Wn.2d 1, 9, 959 P.2d 1024 (1988).

¹² Total's Petition at pp. 15-16.

¹³ Rhod-A-Zalea & 35th, Inc. v. Snohomish County, 136 Wn.2d 1, 959 P.2d 1024 (1988).

Rhod-A-Zalea court did not address whether a nonconforming use was a "vested right"; rather, it stated "pursuant to the "vested rights doctrine" a permit is considered under the rules in effect at the time of the permit application. This situation is not before the court."

In addition to identifying no conflict in Washington law, Total fails to establish that its petition involves an issue of substantial public interest this Court should determine. *See*, RAP 13.4(b)(4). By filling a gap in Washington case law, the Court of Appeals decision rendered a substantial service to the law and the public. But that does not make the decision one the Supreme Court should review. Beyond citing distinguishable case law about nonconforming uses, Total identifies no grounds to question the Court of Appeals determination about nonconforming structures. That is because the Court of Appeals got it right.

Instead, Total spends pages rearguing the case, even making a new argument: that because the Code does not contain a legislative statement about the application of the two-prong common law test to nonconforming structures, that test must be extended to nonconforming structures. ¹⁵

These arguments do not establish any error by the Court of Appeals, and Total's desire for another chance to reargue its case cannot be transformed

¹⁴ Id.

¹⁵ Total's Petition at pp. 11-13.

into an issue of substantial public interest that should be reviewed by the Supreme Court.

B. Total's jurisdictional concern raises a fact-bound question of interest to Total alone, and in any event, the City acknowledges that any enforcement action will occur in municipal court.

Total alleges in its Petition¹⁶ that the Court of Appeals exceeded its jurisdiction by stating in the decision that the owner "without required permits, demolished those structures and then erects a new structure in violation of a stop-work order." Total argues that due to the Court of Appeals jurisdictional overreach, this presents an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. First, this jurisdictional issue raised by Total is factually limited to Total. Even if the Court of Appeals did exceed its jurisdiction, which it did not, the issue only applies to Total. If there is a jurisdictional defect, it is a one-time occurrence of import and interest to no one but Total. The issue is therefore not one of "substantial public interest" but rather the only interest affected would be that of Total. For this reason alone, the issue does not arise to one of substantial public interest that should be reviewed by the Supreme Court.

¹⁶ See, pp. 5-9 of Total's Petition.

¹⁷ See, pp. A-7, A-10 and A-16 of Total's Appendix to Petition.

Total's jurisdictional concern is also without merit. The Court of Appeals did not exceed its jurisdiction because it did not "adjudicate the municipal court action" as alleged by Total Outdoor. The language in its decision simply addressed claims raised by Total that could have served as potential defenses to a future City enforcement action.

In order to adjudicate violations of the Seattle Municipal Code, the City would bear the burden of proof in any enforcement action. The City has admitted that an enforcement action, if needed, will occur in Seattle Municipal Court. ¹⁸ The City acknowledges here once again that the language in the Court of Appeals decision did not resolve the code enforcement action against Total. Even Total acknowledges a pending municipal court action between the parties which has been stayed ¹⁹ to address whether Total's modification of the nonconforming sign violated the Seattle Municipal Code. Further, the appropriate remedy in an enforcement action would be entry of a judgment awarding DPD

¹⁸ See, Stipulated Order on City's Motion to Dismiss in Part (attached in the Appendix to the City's Answer to Petition).

¹⁹ Total's Petition at p. 6 and 7.

penalties.²⁰ The Court of Appeal did not enter a judgment for monetary penalties against Total. For these reasons, the Court of Appeals did not resolve the enforcement action nor did it exceed its jurisdiction.

VI. CONCLUSION

Total has identified no basis that warrant Supreme Court review as required under RAP 13.4(b). The Court of Appeals decision simply filled the gap regarding the termination of rights associated with a nonconforming structure and such decision does not conflict with any Washington case law. Total raises no issue that constitutes an issue of substantial public importance that should be reviewed and decided by the Supreme Court. To the contrary, the matter concerns no one but Total and this fact-bound question does not merit Supreme Court review. For these

²⁰ SMC 22.100.010 adopting the International Building Code including Section 103.3 which authorizes the building official to issue a stop work order whenever any work is being done that is contrary to the Building Code and Section 103.5 which states that failing to comply with the provisions of the Building Code shall be subject to a cumulative civil penalty.

Further, SMC 23.90.010 of the Land Use Code prohibits any work or other activity at the site after a stop work order has been issued: "A failure to comply with a Stop Work Order shall constitute a violation of this Land Use Code." SMC 23.90.018.A provides civil penalties as a remedy for violations of the City's Land Use Code, stating "In addition to any other remedy authorized by law or equity, any person violating or failing to comply with any of the provisions of Title 23 shall be subject to a cumulative penalty ...until compliance is achieved."

reasons, the City respectfully asks the Supreme Court to deny Total's petition for review.